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Def endant - appel | ants Janmes Murphy, M D., and Joseph Kirkham
(collectively, “defendants”) appeal their respective crimnal
convictions for health care fraud under 18 U. S.C. 88 1347 and 2.
They rai sed nunerous chal l enges to their convictions and sent ences,
several of which are grounded on their argunent that the governnent
inproperly indicted them by including only one count in its
indictment while listing several other discrete executions of
def endants’ all eged schene to commt health care fraud as exanpl es

rather than as separate counts. Al t hough we conclude that the

" Pursuant to 5THOR R 47.5, the court has determ ned that
this opi nion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the limted circunstances set forth in 5THCQR R 47.5. 4.



governnent’s indictnment was fl awed —specifically, duplicitous —
we hold that, because defendants experienced no prejudice as a
result of the duplicitous indictnment or of any trial errors that
they asserted, their convictions should be affirmed. As for their

sentences, however, the Suprene Court’s recent decision in United

States v. Booker? requires us to hold that defendants’ Sixth
Amendnent rights were violated by the district court’s cal culation
of loss and concomtant sentencing under the then-binding United
States Sentencing Quidelines. W therefore vacate defendants
sentences and remand for re-sentencing.
| . FACTS AND PROCEEDI NGS

In May 2003, a jury convicted Kirkham and Murphy of health
care fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 1347% and 2.* The three-
page indictnent charged each defendant with only one count,
all eging that they had executed and attenpted to execute a schene

to defraud various health care benefit plans from August 1996

2 125 S.Ct. 738 (2005).

3 Whoever knowingly and willfully executes, or attenpts to
execute, a schene or artifice--
(1) to defraud any health care benefit program. :
in connection with the delivery of or paynent for health care
benefits, items, or services, shall be fined under this title or
i nprisoned not nore than 10 years, or both.

4 (a) Whoever commts an offense against the United States
or aids, abets, counsels, conmands, induces or procures its
comm ssion, is punishable as a principal.

(b) Whoever willfully causes an act to be done which if
directly perfornmed by himor another would be an of fense agai nst
the United States, is punishable as a principal.
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through the year 2000. In Cctober 2003, the district court
sentenced Kirkhamto 120 nonths of inprisonnent and ordered himto
pay restitution of $2,751,270. Mirphy was sentenced to 87 nonths
of inprisonnment and ordered to pay restitution of $732,061

A. The | ndi ct nent

The governnent indicted Kirkham Mirphy, and Alvin Lostetter,
M D., on one count of executing or attenpting to execute a schene
to commt fraud on health care benefit prograns.® Part A of the
i ndictnment states the duration of the schene, August 1996 - 2000,
its location, the defendants’ nanes, and the identities of several
health care benefit providers that defendants were charged with
def r audi ng. It goes on to describe the schenme as an effort to
“obtain by nmeans of fal se and f raudul ent pr et enses,
representations, and prom ses, noney owned by and under the cust ody
and control of health care benefit prograns in connection with the
delivery of and paynent for health care benefits, itens, and
services.”

Part B of the indictnent describes defendants’ schene in
greater detail. It lists seven conponents of the schene, including
creating phony nedi cal business entities and nanes, billing under
the names of doctors who did not provide or supervise nedica
services, recruiting patients with fal se representations, providing

fal se nedical diagnoses, and using chiropractors and unlicensed

5 Although he was indicted with Kirkham and Mur phy,
Lostetter did not go to trial with them
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personnel to recruit “patients” and render nedical diagnoses and
treatment consistent with the schene and the anount of health
i nsurance carried by the patient, rather than according to the true
medi cal needs of the patient. Part B also states that the health
care benefit prograns provided paynents to defendants based on the
subm ssion of false clains and diagnoses, and that defendants
recei ved and shared these proceeds pursuant to their schene.

Part C of the indictnent lists 13 particular transactions
executed or attenpted to be executed in perpetrating the schene to
defraud. Each transaction |isted included the date of the billing,
t he nane of the nedi cal insurance provider, the doctor’s nane under
which services were billed, and the nane(s) of the patient(s).
Four of these transactions naned Lostetter as the physician
provi di ng services, one transaction nanmed Kirkhamand Lostetter as
physi ci an providers, and ei ght transactions naned Mirphy. Al 13
listed transactions took place after August 1996. The i ndictnent
does not specify which of the individually listed transactions
woul d be used at trial to illustrate defendants’ execution of the
schene.

B. Health Care Cinic and Gym Schene

The governnent asserted at trial that, beginning in 1993
Kirkham along wth several other individuals, conducted a
continuing schene to defraud health care benefit prograns through

their operation of health care clinics associated with gyns and



health clubs; Mirphy joined Kirkham in operating the schene in
1997. Kirkhamand Mark Darner, a chiropractor, operated the schene
along with Murphy and other nedical doctors, including Lostetter
and Victor McCall. Darner pleaded guilty to conspiracy to conmt
mail fraud and testified about the health care fraud schene at
Ki r kham and Murphy’s trial.

Darner testified that he and Kirkham set up health care
clinics inside a nunber of health clubs of which they were majority
owners, and that they used the club sites to solicit and direct new
patients tothe clinics. Mirphy’'s, Lostetter’s, and McCall’ s nanes
were often used in billing insurers, said Darner, explaining that
insurers are nore likely to reinburse and to pay a higher rate for
i nvoices submtted by doctors than those from chiropractors.
According to Darner, Kirkhamwas the CEO and pri nci pal operator of
the health clubs. He directed Darner regarding inplenentation of
t he schene.

Defendants inplenented a standing procedure that required
each new fitness club nenber to be examned in the clinic. Wile
Mur phy was associated with the clinics in 1997 and 1998, they
enpl oyed a witten treatnent protocol authored by Kirkham Mirphy,
and Darner. This protocol specified listed treatnments to be given
to each new “patient” or gym nenber at the five or six clinics
being operated at the tinme, wth explicit instructions not to
nmodify treatnment unless it was contraindicated. Clients were
assigned treatnent «classifications based on their insurance
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cover age. For the first visit of a nenber/client who had
i nsurance, the protocol required a new patient exam range of
nmotion analysis, scanning EM5 thernography, and radiographs
regardl ess whether tests and these treatnments were indicated as
required by the patient. The second automatic visit protocol
called for nore extensive tests and treatnent, including billing
for a nunber of other diagnostic tests.

Testifying at Kirkhamand Murphy’s trial were (1) Darner, (2)
Victor McCall, another physician who participated in the schene,
and (3) Charles Stafford, a staff chiropractor, as well as several
clinic “patients,” a nedical transcriber, and an expert w tness.
The witnesses who had participated in the schene with defendants
descri bed the nature of the schene in detail, including the process
used for submtting the fraudulent clains. The clinic’'s clients
testified that, after joining the health club for fitness reasons,
they were told to go to the clinic for unwanted and unnecessary
medi cal exans. Several clients identified false listings of
synptons and diagnoses in their files and confirnmed that clains
sent to their insurance conpanies were false.

The governnent also presented an expert wtness, Charles
Crane, MD., who testified that defendants’ billing and testing
procedures were i nappropriate and fraudulent. Eeletha WIllians, a
medi cal transcriber who worked for Mrphy from 1995 to 1999
testified that nost of Mirphy’ s patient reports contained a note
stating that the billing had been dictated but not read by Mirphy,
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even though Mirphy had not dictated, reviewed, or provided any
information for the reports. She also stated that Murphy told her
on several occasions that the reports were too short and asked her
to generate nore lengthy patient reports containing false
i nformati on.
C. Oxyl ab

Oxyl ab was another conpany of which Mrphy was nedical
director. Karen Miusch, an enployee of Oxylab, pleaded guilty to
mai | fraud and testified agai nst Murphy. Misch testified that she
served as nedical director of a fraudulent sleep apnea study
conducted by Oxy-Lab, and that Miurphy participated in the study
during the tinme that he was active in the health club schene with
Ki r kham Musch stated that WMurphy never perfornmed or read any
sl eep apnea tests, yet he submtted insurance clains purporting to
bill providers for his services related to the study. Sever al
insurance billings listed in Part C of the indictnent were clains
processed and paid by health care benefit prograns for this sleep
apnea st udy.

1. ANALYSIS

A Sufficiency of the Evidence

1. St andard of Revi ew

W review challenges to sufficiency of the evidence by
exam ni ng whether, in the light nost favorable to the governnent,

a rational jury could have found the essential elenents of an



of fense to be established beyond a reasonabl e doubt.®

2. The Evi dence

Defendants’ <challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence
rests, inlarge part, on their assertion that the governnent’s one-

count indictnment against them was flawed. They contend that,

according to our decision in United States v. Hi ckman, when
charging defendants with violations of the health care fraud
statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1347 (“8 1347"), the governnent is required to
charge each execution of their fraudulent schenme in a separate
count .’ In this case, the governnent included a list of
“executions” in the one-count indictnment but did not single out any
specific acts on which the jury nust have agreed to convict.
Def endants contend that this is contrary to H ckman and, because of
this defect in the indictnent, the evidence was insufficient to
support their convictions. They insist that the governnent was
required to (1) list each execution of the schene separately and
(2) prove the commssion of each execution listed in the
i ndi ct ment.

In addition to their H ckman argunent, defendants assert that

their indictnment was duplicitous, i.e., that it charged in a single

6 United States v. Solis, 299 F.3d 420, 445 (5th G r. 2002).

” See 331 F.3d 439, 446 (5th Cir. 2003), on renand at 282
F. Supp. 2d 528 (S.D. Tex. 2003), affirnmed by 374 F.3d 275 (5th
Cir. 2004), vacated and remanded for re-sentencing in accordance
wth United States v. Booker, 125 S.Ct. 738 (2005), 125 S. Ct
1043 (2005).




count that which could have been charged in separate counts.?
Finally, defendants argue that, because several of the transactions
enunerated in Part C list Victor Lostetter as the physician who
provi ded the treatnment, and t he governnent di d not produce evi dence
to prove that these transactions were fraudul ent, the governnent
did not neet its burden of proof wth respect to these
transactions. W address defendants’ chall enge to their indictnent
in sone detail, as it reappears several times, underlying many of
the other challenges to their convictions and to their sentences.?®

First, defendants are mi staken in their assertion that H ckman
requi res the governnent to charge health care fraud defendants for

each separate execution of their schene to defraud health care

benefit providers. |In H ckman, we held that the health care fraud
statute, like the bank fraud statute, ! crimnalized executions of
schemes to defraud, in contrast to the muil and wre fraud

statutes, which permt the governnent to charge a defendant for

each act in furtherance of a schene to defraud.* W did not hold

that the governnent nust charge defendants wth each separate

8 See United States v. Baytank, 934 F.2d 599, 609 (5th Cr.
1991) .

® The defendants do not directly challenge the indictnent
itself on appeal but argue only that, because the indictnment was
duplicitous, this error contributed to other trial errors.

1018 U.S.C. § 1344,

11 331 F.3d at 446 (citing United States v. Lenobns, 941 F. 2d
309 (5th Gr. 1991) for this interpretation of the bank fraud
statute).




execution of § 1347, stating instead that, as a health care fraud
may be executed several tines, the governnment could charge each
execution in a separate count.!? |n essence, we sought to clarify
that the governnment nmay not indict defendants for violations of §

1347 without charging that they fully executed a schene, as

di stingui shed fromonly conmtting overt acts in furtherance of its
executi on.

Q her circuits have encountered simlar chall enges to single-
count indictnents brought under the bank fraud statute and have
agreed that, although the governnent may charge defendants for each
execution of the schene, it is not required to do so.'® The Seventh
Circuit’s reasoning, endorsed by the Ninth and D.C. GCrcuits,
expl ai ned t hat:

[ F] or each count of conviction, there nust be an

executi on. However, the law does not require the

converse: each execution need not give rise to a

charge inthe indictnent. The indictnent in this case

sets forth the exi stence of the schene and al |l eges t he

scheme was executed on at |east one occasi on. The
allegations tending to denonstrate the existence of

12331 F. 3d at 446 (“Of course, although the crime of health
care fraud is conplete upon the execution of a schenme, any schene
can be executed a nunber of tinmes, and each execution nay be
charged as a separate count.”) (enphasis added).

13 United States v. King, 200 F.3d 1207, 1212-13 (9th Cr.
1999) (rejecting a defendant’s due process and doubl e jeopardy
chal l enges to a one-count indictnent); United States v. Bruce, 89
F.3d 886, 889-90 (D.C. G r. 1996)(holding that the governnent
need not indict a defendant on every execution of a bank fraud
schene); United States v. Hammen, 977 F.2d 379, 383-84 (7th G
1992) (uphol di ng a one-count indictnment despite allegations in the
indictnment that could, if worded and structured differently, be
chargeabl e as individual counts).
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t he schene do appear to be allegations that, if worded

and structured differently, m ght constitute

addi tional executions. This is hardly surprising; the

actions that tend to prove the exi stence of the schene

will often be the actions actually taken to execute

t he schene. 4
Each court al so enphasi zed, however, that to avoid duplicity, the
governnment nust carefully craft its indictnment to include only one
execution of a scheme in a count.?®®

As the governnent was not required to charge Kirkham and
Mur phy with each execution of the schene, but instead could indict
them for the schene by charging only one execution, we nust
determ ne whet her the governnent carefully crafted its indictnent
to charge only one execution, and thereby avoid a duplicitous
i ndi ct nent . We begin by defining “executions” of a schene to
determ ne whet her nore than one is charged in a single-count.

In H ckman, we described an “execution” under 8§ 1347 in the
same manner as an execution of § 1344, the bank fraud statute,
viz., that transactions wth a comon purpose but involving
separate and i ndependent obligations to be truthful may constitute

separate executions.® The process of defining “execution of a

scheme” is a fact-intensive one in which we consider such factors

14 Hammen, 977 F.2d at 383; see also King, 200 F.3d at 1213;
Bruce, 89 F.3d at 889-90.

15 See King, 200 F.3d at 1213; Bruce, 89 F.3d at 890;
Hammen, 977 F.2d at 384.

6 1d., citing United States v. De La Mata, 266 F.3d 1275,
1287 (11th Gir. 2001).
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as (1) the ultimate goal of the schene, (2) the nature of the
schene, (3) the benefits intended, (4) the interdependence of the
acts, and (5) the nunber of parties involved.?

In H cknman, the defendant was accused of billing Medicare,
Medi caid, and a variety of private insurance conpanies in a series
of fraudul ent transactions.'® Applying the foregoing factors and
other prior interpretations of 8 1344 (the bank fraud statute) to
8§ 1347, we held the fourth factor, interdependence, to be
di spositive.? The defendant submtted each clai mseparately and,
wi th each subm ssion, owed a new and i ndependent obligation to be
truthful to the insurer.? Therefore, each cl ai msubm ssion was a
separ ate execution of the schene.?

The governnent indicted Kirkham and Mirphy for virtually the
sanme conduct — submtting false clains to a variety of health

insurers — as that for which it had prosecuted the Hickman

71d., citing De La Mata, 266 F.3d at 1288 (citations

omtted).

18 1d. at 441.

¥ 1d. W concluded that the other four factors were
unhel pful : The nature of the schene was to submt false clains to
health insurers; the benefit was the noney rendered by the
insurer to the defendant; financial gain was the ultimte goal;
and t he defendant defrauded several parties, although she
primarily targeted Medicare and Medicaid. |1d. at 446-47. These
factors are identical in the instant case, except that Kirkham
and Murphy targeted a wider variety of health care benefit
provi ders than had Hi ckman

20 1d,
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def endant . As in Hickman, these defendants submtted nunerous
false clains to a variety of health insurers which were not
i nterdependent, with financial gain as defendants’ ultinmte goal.
We conclude that, as in H ckman, each false claimsubmtted to an
i nsurer constituted an execution of Kirkham and Mirphy’s schene. 22
The indictnment itself appears soto definethelisted clains, as it
states that “[i]n execution and attenpting to execute the schene.

medi cal clains were subm tted and caused to be submtted by the

def endant s. before listing in Part C the separate clains
submtted by defendants. W are satisfied that Part C of the
indictment did charge defendants in one count wth several
executions of their schenme when it listed 13 false clainms submtted
W t hout specifying which of these clains would be used at trial to
denonstrate that defendants executed their schene.

Section 1347 does not crimnalize the scheme alone — the
gover nnment nust prove at | east one execution of the schene, and the
i ndi ctment shoul d specify which execution of the schene wll be

used.®® The indictnent brought agai nst Kirkhamand Murphy lists 13

all egedly fraudulent clainms wthout singling out one particular

2 Ordinarily, the process of defining a schenme under the
health care fraud, or the bank fraud, statute, would be nore
| abori ous. In this case, the facts are so sinlar to the facts
set forth in H ckman that we see no need to re-hash an
expl anation of why the defendants’ conduct constituted executions
of the schene in greater detail. See 331 F.3d at 446-47

23 See Hammen, 977 F.2d at 383.
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claimas the one for which liability will be inposed.? Had the
indictnment |isted several transacti ons as exanpl es of executions of
the schenes but had al so been “carefully crafted” to identify one
specific transaction that constituted execution of the schene and
on which the jury nust agree before convicting defendants, the
i ndi ctment woul d not have been duplicitous; however, it did not do
so.

Despite this flaw in the indictnent, though, the governnent
adduced trial evidence sufficient to sustain defendants’
convictions. Wth respect to Murphy, in addition to evidence of
t he broader fraudul ent schenme, two of the patients listed in Part
C as “treated” by Murphy, Joyner and Hancock, testified at trial as
did Stafford, the chiropractor involved with their treatnent. Al
three confirmed that Mirphy’'s billings for services ostensibly
provided by himto these patients were fraudulent. As for the six
patients listed in Part C as receiving sl eep apnea services billed
by Murphy as part of the OxyLab study, the governnent al so produced
anpl e evidence of fraud. The patients’ testing and Medi care cl ai m

records were introduced into evidence, and the director of OxylLab

24 See Bruce, 89 F.3d at 890 (holding valid a one-count bank
fraud indictnment |isting acts taken in furtherance of the schene
but that could have been charged separately as executions,
because the indictnent specified one fraudul ent transaction taken
“for the purpose of executing. . .7).

2> See id.; Hammen, 977 F.2d at 383 (uphol di ng one-count
i ndi ctment and noting that “the governnent has carefully crafted
the indictnent to allege only one execution of an ongoing schene
t hat was executed nunerous tines.”).
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testing, Karen Misch, testified as to Mrphy's negligible
i nvol venent in the study and in services for which fraudul ent
clains were submtted to insurers. The governnent produced
sufficient evidence to support the jury’'s verdict on every one of
the executions listed in Part C of the indictnent as being
subm tted by Muirphy.

Subst anti al evidence al so supported Kirkham s conviction for
his role in this health care clinic schenme. Darner testified that
he and Kirkhamoriginally set up the schene and handled all billing
t hensel ves. Darner also testified that he, Kirkham and Muirphy
conspired to commt health care fraud by fraudulently billing
i nsurance conpani es, and that Kirkham was the “main boss” of the
oper ati on. And, MCall, a nedical doctor, testified that he
participated in the scamw th Kirkham and Darner after Mirphy had
left the clinic. Even though the governnent included only one
execution of the schenme in which Kirkhamwas |isted as the nedi cal
provider and did not produce the nanmed patient as a wtness at
trial, the overwhel m ng evidence of Kirkham s invol venent with the
schene and significant participation in the billing procedures
support a finding that he worked with Murphy to execute the schene
on the other |isted occasions.

The governnent need not prove all facts alleged in the

indictment as long as it proves the essential elenents of the
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crime.? In this case, the government was required to showthat the
defendants: (1) knowingly and willfully (2) executed or attenpted
to execute (3) a schene or artifice (4) to defraud any health care
benefit program (5) in connection with the delivery of or paynent
for health care benefits, itens, or services?; or that they (a)
ai ded, abetted, counsel ed, commanded, induced or procured such an
of fense or (b) willfully caused an act to be done which, if it had
been directly perforned by the defendant, would have constituted
such an offense.?® Even if we assune that the governnent did not
adduce adequate evidence to support conviction for the clains
listing Lostetter as the physician provider, it presented anple
evi dence to prove each el enent of the offense with respect to each
defendant.?® For this reason we al so reject defendants’ argunent
that the governnent failed to neet its burden of proof with respect

to fraudul ent transactions listed inthe indictment that identified

26 United States v. Robinson, 974 F.2d 575, 578 (5th Cir.
1992) .

2718 U.S.C. § 1347(1).
28 18 U.S.C. § 2.

2 See Giffinv. United States, 502 U S. 46, 49, 58-59
(1991) (hol ding that, although petitioner was convicted of
conspiracy despite the governnent’s failure to present any
evidence linking the petitioner to one of the two illegal objects
of the conspiracy as stated in the indictnent, this did not
require reversal of the jury’s verdict as there was evidentiary
support for the other object. Although reversal is appropriate
where a jury’s verdict may have rested on a legally inadequate
basis, such is not the case when one possi ble basis of conviction
was unsupported by sufficient evidence, as juries are perfectly
wel | equi pped to eval uate the evidence).
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Lostetter as the treating physician.?3

In sum even though the indictnment was flawed, nmaking it
somewhat nore difficult to ascertain for which of the executions
the jury convicted defendants, the governnent produced sufficient
evi dence to support the jury’ s finding that Murphy and Ki r khamwere
each responsi ble for at | east one |isted execution of the schene.
W hold that the indictnent’s flaw did not affect defendants’
substantial rights and that the evidence was sufficient to support
the jury’s verdict beyond a reasonabl e doubt.
B. “Void for Vagueness” Statutory Chall enge

1. St andard of Revi ew

W review chall enges to the constitutionality of a statute de

2. Vagueness

Def endants charge that, under the circunstances of this case,
8§ 1347 is “void for vagueness.” Their argunent rests largely on
clainmed deficiencies in the jury instructions and in the
i ndi ctment, which we di scuss el sewhere inthis opinion. Oherw se,
defendants contend that, because the statute does not define
“execution or attenpt to execute” a health care fraud schene, it

did not adequately put themon notice that their conduct could be

30 As we noted above, Lostetter was indicted with the
def endants but was not tried with them

3 United States v. Mnroe, 178 F.3d 304, 308 (5th Cir.
1999) .
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illegal.

The Suprene Court requires that Congress define crimnal
offenses with “sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can
under st and what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does not
encourage arbitrary and discrimnatory enforcenent.”32 Each
vagueness chal | enge that does not involve First Arendnent freedons
must be examned in light of its individual facts and
circunstances. ® Achallenge that a statute i s unconstitutional for
vagueness is closely related to an objection that a statute does
not require a showing of specific intent.* |f a statute does
include “willful ness” or specific intent as an elenent, it wll
normal Iy not be so vague as to deprive a defendant of reasonable
notice that his conduct is proscribed.® Accordingly, we have

uphel d the constitutionality, agai nst vagueness chal | enges, of both

32 Kol ender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357 (1983).

3% United States v. Gray, 96 F.3d 769, 776 (5th Cir. 1996).

3 United States v. Wayner, 55 F.3d 564, 568 (11th Cir.
1995) (hol ding that, as the bank fraud statute incorporates
specific intent as an el enent, the defendant’s vagueness
chall enge to the statute nust fail).

3% Screws v. United States, 325 U. S. 91, 102 (1945) (“But
where the punishnment inposed is only for an act know ngly done
with the purpose of doing that which the statute prohibits, the
accused cannot be said to suffer fromlack of warning or
know edge that the act which he does is a violation of |aw. The
requi renent that the act nust be willful or purposeful nmay not
render certain, for all purposes, a statutory definition of the
crime which is in sone respects uncertain. But it does relieve
the statute of the objection that it punishes w thout warning an
of fense of which the accused was unaware.”).
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the bankruptcy fraud statute and forner 18 U S.C. 8§ 1346, the
general anti-fraud statute, because each requires the governnent to
prove specific intent to defraud —as does 8§ 1347.°3¢

Def endants do not contest that the jury was required to find
that they acted wth specific intent to defraud a health care
benefit provider, or that the indictnent adequately described the
overall schene to defraud health care benefit providers. Although
the indictnent itself may have been flawed, |eaving defendants
somewhat unsure which of the 13 |isted executions of the schene the
governnment woul d attenpt to prove at trial, neither the statute nor
the indictnment left defendants guessing at what conduct the
governnent alleged was fraudul ent, whom they defrauded, or how.
Def endants’ real objection appears to be the fact that the
i ndi ctment di d not separately charge each execution of their schene
to defraud health care benefit prograns, which, as we observed
above, it was not required to do. Defendants do not advance that
they did not understand what it neant to execute the schene to
defraud and therefore could not have intentionally violated the
statute. W hold that defendants’ vagueness challenge to the
constitutionality of the health care fraud statute fails.
C. Motion for Bill of Particulars

1. St andard of Revi ew

% ]d., United States v. Daniels, 247 F.3d 598, 600 (5th
Cir. 2001). |In Daniels, we concluded that there is nothing
“Inherently vague in the notion of a general anti-fraud statute.”
| d.
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We review denial of a notion for a bill of particulars for
abuse of discretion.® Only defendant Miurphy noved for a bill of
particul ars, however, so our review as to defendant Kirkhamis for
plain error.

2. Bill of Particul ars

The purpose of a bill of particulars is to apprise a def endant
of the charges against him with enough detail to allow himto
prepare his defense.® A crimnal defendant nust denonstrate that
he was actually surprised at trial, and thereby prejudiced in his
substantial rights, before we will reverse a conviction based on a
district court’s denial of a notion for a bill of particulars.

As we concl uded above, the indictnent returned agai nst Kirkham
and Murphy was duplicitous; nevertheless, it gave defendants
adequate notice of the charges against them The |anguage of the
indictnment clearly describes the essential elenents of the crine
and charges that defendants “knowi ngly and willfully executed, and
attenpted to execute, a schene and artifice to defraud health care

benefit prograns. . .” This tracks the | anguage of § 1347, which

37 United States v. Lavergne, 805 F.2d 517, 520 (5th Cir.
1986) .

3% United States v. Montemayor, 703 F.2d 109, 117 (5th Gr.
1983) .

% Lavergne, 805 F.2d at 521 (“The fact that the indictnents
are only thus decipherable falls short of the precision desirable

inan indictnment. But a finding that no bill of particulars was
needed al so rests on the fact appellants have not made the
requi site showing of surprise. . .”").
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states “whoever knowingly and willfully executes, or attenpts to
execute, a schene or artifice to defraud any health care benefit
program "4 and makes clear which subsection of the statute
def endants were being charged with viol ating. The i ndi ct nent goes
on to nane siXx insurance conpanies that defendants allegedly
defrauded, and, in seven paragraphs under Part B, the specific
schene or artifice by which defendants allegedly defrauded them
The tinme frame of the schene, August 1996 through 2000, is also
included. Part C of the indictnent lists 13 allegedly fraudul ent
medical clains, including dates and the nanes of insurance
provi ders, doctors, and patients, submtted by defendants in their
execution of the schene.* The governnent obvi ously provi ded enough
information to the defendants to give them notice of the charges
agai nst them

In any event, Mirphy (and, for that matter, Kirkhan) was
nei ther surprised nor prejudiced at trial by the court’s failureto
grant his notion for a bill of particulars. The governnent
provi ded both defendants with vol um nous discovery, including the

testinony and exhibits eventually introduced against them at

% 18 U S.C. § 1347(1).

4 Five of these clains |isted Lostetter as the doctor who
all egedly provided services to the patient; as noted infra,
Lostetter was originally indicted along with Kirkham and Mir phy
but did not go to trial with them Therefore, the governnent did
not present evidence as to these transactions.
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trial.* Moreover, even if the indictnent had not furnished
adequate i nformati on about the charges brought agai nst defendants,
the governnent’s providing themwith the necessary information in
anot her satisfactory form obviated the need for a bill of
particulars.* W are convinced that defendants were not actually
taken by surprise at trial, sothe trial court’s denial of the bil
of particulars did not prejudice them #

D. 404(b) Chall enge

1. St andard of Revi ew

We revi ew chal | enges to the adm ssi on of evidence for abuse of
di scretion.*

2. Extrinsic Evidence of Bad Acts

42 See Lavergne, 805 F.2d at 521 (holding that defendants
had not been surprised or prejudiced by facts used to support the
governnent’s case because the governnent had nmade the evidence
used at trial available for inspection and copying by the
def endants’ attorneys or investigators).

43 United States v. Vasquez, 867 F.2d 872, 874 (5th Gir.
1989) .

4 See United States v. Montemayor, 703 F.2d 109, 117 (5th
Cir. 1983).

4% United States v. Stouffer, 986 F.2d 916, 924 (5th Cir.
1993) (citing United States v. Liu, 960 F.2d 449, 452 (5th Gr.
1992). Defendants made a 404(b) challenge only to the adm ssion
of the testinony of Lydia Roberts, a patient/client of the
clinic; the trial court also admtted testinony of other patients
and patient files not listed in the indictnent, to which the
def endants did not object. Although review of this other
evi dence should rightfully be for plain error, as we hold that
the court did not abuse its discretion with respect to adm ssion
of any of the evidence at issue here, it obviously did not conmt
plain error either.
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Def endants chall enge the trial court’s adm ssion of evidence
of fraudulent transactions that were not specified in the
i ndi ct nent . They contend that these transactions constitute
evi dence of extrinsic bad acts, requiring the trial court to weigh
t he probati ve val ue of the evidence against unfair prejudice to the
defendants as a result of its adm ssion.* Defendants argue further
that, as the governnent did not discloseits intention to introduce
this evidence at trial pursuant to defendants’ 404(b) notion to
di scl ose, they did not receive fair notice that such evi dence woul d
be introduced against themat trial.

| f the existence of a schene to defraud is an elenent of the
of fense, then acts and transactions constituting a part of that
continuing offense are admssible as proof of the crimnal
enterprise.* Evidence of an uncharged offense arising out of a
schene or artifice to defraud is not “extrinsic” within the neaning

of 404(b) and thus not excludabl e on this ground.* The prosecution

46 See United States v. Dula, 989 F.2d 772, 777 (5th Cr
1993).

47 See id. at 777-78.

48 |d. See also Stouffer, 986 F.2d at 926 (“[E]vi dence
relevant to establish the existence of a crimnal enterprise is
not extrinsic to the crinme charged.”); United States v. Lokey,
945 F. 2d 825, 834 (5th Cr. 1991) (hol ding evidence of simlar
crimes commtted outside the tenporal scope and substantive
counts of the indictnment adm ssible “because it was relevant to
establish how the conspiracy cane about, how it was structured,
and how each appel |l ant becane a nenber”); United States v.

Ni chols, 750 F.2d 1260, 1264-64 (5th G r. 1985) (hol ding evidence
of defendant’s involvenent in uncharged crines adm ssible as it
was intrinsic to the governnent’s case in proving the existence
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may offer evidence of any surrounding circunstances that are
relevant to prove intent or notive with respect to the fraudul ent
schene. #°

All the evidence chall enged by Miurphy and Kirkham concer ned
other transactions that tended to show the existence of the
conti nui ng schene to defraud insurers. The evidence introduced by
the governnent was undeniably relevant to proving defendants’
intent or notive with respect to the fraudul ent schene. Most
telling is the fact that defendants did receive fair notice of this
evi dence, as the governnent either produced or allowed defendants
access to all of it well in advance of trial. The district court
did not abuse its discretion in admtting this evidence.
E. Jury Instructions

1. St andard of Revi ew

Appel l ants did not challenge the jury instructions at trial or
proffer any alternative instructions of their own. W therefore

review their conplaints about the instruction for plain error.?>°

of a conspiracy).
49&

0 United States v. Hickman, 331 F.3d 439, 443 (5th Gr.
2003), on remand at 282 F. Supp. 2d 528 (S.D. Tex. 2003),
affirmed by 374 F.3d 275 (5th Gr. 2004), vacated and renmanded
for re-sentencing in accordance with United States v. Booker, 125
S.Ct. 738 (2005), 125 S.Ct. 1043 (2005). Defendants charge that
to challenge the instructions would have been futile and refer us
to United States v. Vel arde-&onez, 224 F.3d 1062, 1074 (9th Cr.
2000), in which the Ninth GCrcuit allowed a “pointless formality”
exception to the requirenent for formal objections to jury
instructions. This decision was vacated by an en banc re-
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2. Contested Jury | nstructions

Def endants contest the trial court’s instruction to the jury
that it was not necessary for the governnent to prove “all the
details alleged in the indictnment concerning the preci se nature and
purpose of the alleged schene.” They take issue as well with the
court’s instruction that “it nmust be proven beyond a reasonable
doubt that the defendants know ngly devised or intended to devise
a schene substantially simlar to that charged in the indictnent
and that they executed or attenpted to execute the sanme.” These
i nstructions, defendants argue, may have caused themto be found
guilty of uncharged conduct or may have resulted i n a non-unani nous
verdi ct.

The governnment responds first by pointing out that the
instructions at issue required the jury to convict only for conduct
charged in the indictnent. It acknow edges, however, that the
i ndi ctment charged nul ti ple executions of a schene in but a single
count, and that this potentially posed a danger of a non-unani nous

verdi ct. Conceding that a special unanimty instructi on woul d have

avoided this clainmed problemw th the indictnment, > the governnent

hearing, 269 F.3d 1023 (9th Cr. 2001). The Ninth Grcuit’s
rule, established by other cases, requires that a defendant offer
an alternative instruction, which the defendants in this case do
not claimto have done. See United States v. Kessi, 868 F.2d
1097, 1102 (9th G r. 1989).

1 See United States v. Baytank, 934 F.2d 599, 609 (5th
Cr. 1991) (“[T]he conplaint cones down to whether the jury
instructions were sufficient, as it is clear that this aspect of
a duplicity problem can be cured by appropriate speci al
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nevertheless contends that the ~court’s general unani mty
instruction (“Your verdict must be unani nbus as to each defendant
named in the indictnent.”) was sufficient. Citing our decisionin

United States v. Tucker, the governnent goes on to argue that,

absent evidence to the contrary, a court has no reason to assune
that a verdict is not unani nbus. %2

The governnent argues further that defendants have produced no
evidence that they were prejudiced. The key issue at trial was
whet her defendants’ business was a fraudul ent schenme under § 1347.
As there is no question that, if the business was fraudul ent
defendants executed the fraud nunerous tines, argues the
governnent, there is |little danger that the jury convicted
def endant s non- unani nousl y.

Al t hough the indictnment was duplicitous and did create the
potential risk of a non-unaninous verdict, the district court
instructed the jury that it nust find that defendants had executed
or attenpted to execute the fraudul ent schene. As we noted above
in our discussion of defendants’ challenge to the sufficiency of
t he evidence, there was anpl e evi dence supporting the governnent’s
charges as to several of the executions of the schene listed in the

indictnment, and there is no real danger that the jury did not agree

instructions which . . . informthe jury that it nust unani nously
agree on the specific basis . . . on which it finds the defendant
guilty”)(enphasis in original).

%2 345 F.3d 320, 336 (5th Gr. 2003).
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t hat defendants had executed the schene. Even if the district
court mght have erred in not giving a special unanimty
instruction to cure the defect in the indictnent, such omssion did
not prejudi ce defendants. >

F. Ex Post Fact o Conduct

1. St andard of Revi ew

Defendants did not raise this argunent before the district
court. We therefore reviewit for plain error.?®

2. Conduct Predating the Statute of Conviction

Def endants argue that, by presenting evi dence of their conduct
that took place prior to the August 1996 effective date of § 1347,

the governnent violated the Constitution’s Ex Post Facto cl ause.

In response the governnent enphasizes that (1) the indictnent
specified that the crimnal schene extended from August 1996 unti |
2000, (2) the only executions listed in the indictnment took place
after August 1996, and (3) the district court instructed the jury
that it nust find a schene or plan to defraud “substantially the
sane as the one alleged in the indictnent.” Al t hough the

governnent di d adduce evidence relating to pre-enactnent conduct,

53 See, e.q., Baytank, 934 F.2d at 610 (holding no plain
error where court did not give special unanimty instruction on
single count, duplicitous indictnent); United States v. Razo-
Leora, 961 F.2d 1140, 1146-47 (5th Cr. 1992) (finding no plain
error despite trial court’s failure to give special unanimty
instruction on duplicitous indictnent).

4 United States v. Richards, 204 F.3d 177, 197 n.6 (5th
Cir. 2000).
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this evidence denonstrated the existence of a continuing offense
and, as it was not listed in the indictnent, could not have been
the conduct for which the jury convicted defendants.

A law violates the Ex Post Facto clause if it punishes acts

that, when conmmtted, were not crimnal.® In H ckman, we held
invalid the defendant’s conviction on three specific counts under

§ 1347 for violation of the Ex Post Facto clause.® Al though we

noted that a schene to commt health care fraud is a continuing
of fense, we found that these three counts charged behavi or that had
been fully executed before the effective date of the statute.?®
Wth respect to continuing offenses in general, however, the
Ex Post Facto clause is not violated by application of a statute to
a continuing schene that began before the effective date of a
statute but continued thereafter.?®8

Unlike the Hi ckman indictnent, the one-count indictnent
agai nst Kirkham and Murphy did not charge them on or list any
i ndi vidual counts or executions of transactions that were fully
executed before the effective date of the statute. In fact, all of

the executions listed in the indictnent invol ved transactions that

% Hi ckman, 331 F.3d at 445.

% 331 F.3d at 447.

T 1d. at 447.

8 United States v. Duncan, 42 F.3d 97, 104 (2d G r. 1994);

United States v. Garfinkel, 29 F.3d 1253, 1259-60 (8th G
1994). See also Hammen, 977 F.3d at 385.

28



t ook place well after August 1996, and each “patient” who testified
at trial was billed after 1998. There is no danger that defendants
were convicted on the basis of their pre-enactnment behavior.> W
hold that, as no Ex Post Facto violation occurred, the trial court
did not err by admtting the evidence in question.
G Cal cul ating the Anmount of Loss

Defendants also challenge the district court’s sentencing
cal culation of the anount of |oss caused by their fraudul ent
activity. To avoid an Ex Post Facto violation at sentencing, both
defendants were sentenced under the 2000 edition of the United
States Sentencing GQuidelines (“U S.S.G"”). The court calculated a
base offense level of six for a violation of 8§ 1347 under fornmer
US S G 8§ 2F1.1(a) and adopted the intended-1oss figures reported
i n defendants’ Presentence I nvestigation Reports (PSR) in applying
of fense | evel enhancenments under § 2F1.1

Kirkhamis PSR reported an intended |oss of $6, 654,634,
resulting in a 14-level enhancenent wunder 8 2F1.1(b)(1)(O;
Mur phy’ s PSR reported an i ntended | oss of $ 1,709,826, resulting in

a 12-1 evel enhancenent under 8§ 2F1.1(b)(1)(M. For its calculation

% See United States v. Todd, 735 F.2d 146, 150 (5th Cir.
1984) (hol di ng that evi dence of conduct occurring prior to
enactnment of crimnal statute did not violate ex post facto
cl ause because the indictnent for conspiracy included only two
overt acts that occurred prior to the effective date of the
statute and nost —but not all —of the evidence presented at
trial focused on events that took place after the effective
date.) In Todd we also relied on the fact that, as in the
instant case, the record clearly established violations of the
rel evant statute after its effective date. |d.
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of restitution, the district court adopted the actual | oss anmounts
stated in defendants’ respective PSRs, resulting in a restitution
order of $2,751,270 for Kirkhamand $732, 061 for Mirphy. Although
the district court conputed defendants’ sentences by including
various other enhancenents and adjustnents, on appeal they
chal l enge only the calculation of |oss, intended and actual.

The Supreme Court’s recent decision in United States v.

Booker nakes clear that inposition of a sentence based on facts
found by the sentencing judge rather than by a jury or a confessing
def endant, under a mandatory sent enci ng gui del i nes regi ne, viol ates
a defendant’s Sixth Amendnent rights.® Under Booker, defendants
clearly experienced such a violation of their constitutional rights
when the trial court included in its |oss cal cul ati ons anounts not
admtted by defendants or proved to the jury beyond a reasonable

doubt . % We recently held, in United States v. Mares, that when a

def endant has preserved his Si xth Anmendnent/ Booker objectioninthe
district court by an objection to his sentencing, we wll
ordinarily vacate and remand, unless we can say that the error is

harm ess under Rule 52(a) of the Federal Rules of Crimnal

60 125 S.C&t. 738, 750-51 (2005).

61 See 125 S. Ct. at 751, 769 (upholding circuit court’s
hol ding that, as the district court had applied the QGuidelines as
witten and i nposed a sentence higher than the maxi num aut hori zed
solely by the jury's verdict, based on its finding that the
def endant had possessed 566 grans of cocaine in addition to the
50 granms found by the jury, the defendant’s Sixth Amendnent
ri ghts had been viol at ed).
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Pr ocedur e. 2 Al t hough neither Booker nor its earlier state-

Gui del i nes anal og, Bl akely v. Washi ngton, % had been deci ded at the

time of defendants’ sentencing hearings, we hold — and the
gover nnment concedes — that objections nade by defendants at their
sent enci ng hearings were sufficient to invoke their Sixth Arendnent
rights to the extent necessary to preserve their Booker objections.
We hold further that defendants have preserved this argunent on
appeal, as they briefed their challenge to the district court’s
cal cul ation of | oss using anounts not found by a jury, specifically
citing Blakely in their reply briefs that were filed with us after
Bl akel y was deci ded but before Booker.

Def endant Kirkham objected to the court’s cal cul ati ons by
arguing that “[t]he loss, if any, nust be proved in Court. The
gover nnent never attenpted to prove any dollar loss in this case.
Therefore, any loss attributable to Kirkham nust be restricted to
that alleged in the indictnent.” Mirphy nade a simlar objection
to the court’s calculations, stating that he objected “to the
met hod of conputing [his] punishnment and fine or restitution
W t hout determ ni ng whi ch schene or attenpted schenes were actually
found by the jury to be executed.” He went on to insist that he
“may be punished only for conduct found by the jury to be

fraudul ent on the allegations in paragraph Cin the indictnent.

62 No. 03-21035, 2005 U.S. App. LEXI'S 3653, at *24 n.9 (5th
Gr. Mar. 4, 2005).

63 124 S.Ct. 2531 (2004).
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7 Even though neither defendant expressly cited Apprendi

Bl akely, or the Sixth Anendnent in his objections at his sentencing
hearing, we hold that the above-quoted | anguage, challenging the
district court’s sentencing based on facts —t he quantum of act ual
or intended I oss —not found by a jury was sufficient to inform
the district court that defendants objected to their sentences
under the Sixth Anmendnent. They thereby preserved their Booker
objections to the district court’s calculation of |oss.®%

As we stated in Mares, we will ordinarily vacate a defendant’s
sentence when he has preserved an objection to a Booker Sixth
Amendnent violation and we find the violation not to be harnl ess

error.% Rule 52(a) of the Federal Rules of Crimnal Procedure

64 See, e.q., United States v. Dowing, No. 04-10464, 2005
U S. App. LEXIS 4725 at *7 - 13 (11th Cr. Mar. 23, 2005)(hol ding
that, in order to preserve a Booker objection, a defendant nust
make a “constitutional” objection at sentencing, which may
include citing Apprendi, the Sixth Arendnent, or the defendant’s
right to have facts found by a jury instead of a judge); United
States v. Selwyn, 398 F.3d 1064, 1066-67 (8th C r. 2005)(hol di ng
t hat defendant had preserved his Sixth Arendnent challenge to his
sentence by objecting to drug quantity findings at his sentencing
hearing); United States v. Fox, 396 F.3d 1018, 1027 (8th Cr.
2005) (findi ng that defendant had preserved his Sixth Arendnent
Booker objection to drug quantity finding by objecting to PSR s
recommendation that he be found responsible for a greater
quantity of nethanphetam ne than that for which the jury had
convicted him. W requested supplenental briefing from both
parties after publication of the Court’s Booker decision and we
note that the governnent also concedes that the defendants have
preserved their Booker objections.

65 2005 U. S. App. LEXIS 3653 at *24 n.9. W note, however,
that the Court’s Booker opinion appears to suggest that we engage
in a harmess error analysis only in cases not involving a Sixth
Amendnent violation. See 125 S.Ct. at 769 (“[1]n cases not
involving a Sixth Anendnent violation, whether resentencing is
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provides that a harm ess error is “any error, defect, irregularity
or variance that does not affect substantial rights” and such error
“must be disregarded.” Wen harmis in question, we nust determ ne
whet her such an error is harm ess beyond a reasonabl e doubt before
we W || vacate a defendant’ s sentence; unlike plain error analysis,
t he governnent, not the defendant, bears the burden of persuading

us that an error did not affect the defendant’s substanti al

rights.

warranted or whether it will instead be sufficient to review a
sentence for reasonabl eness nmay depend upon application of the
harm ess-error doctrine.”)(enphasis added). 1In cases involving

particul ar constitutional violations, the Court has held that
these defects “infect the entire trial process” and by their
nature “necessarily render a trial fundanentally unfair,”
therefore obviating the need, once such a constitutional

viol ation has been identified, for further analysis before
reversing a defendant’s sentence. Neder v. United States, 527
US 1, 8 (1999)(listing such errors as conpl ete denial of
counsel, trial before a biased judge, racial discrimnation in
selection of grand jury, denial of public trial, and defective
reasonabl e-doubt instruction as errors requiring reversal of a
def endant’ s conviction because of their inherent harnful ness).
As the governnment does not argue that the trial court’s error was
harm ess in this case, however, we decline to specul ate whet her
such an anal ysis woul d be necessary under these circunstances.

6 Neder, 527 U S. at 15; United States v. O ano, 507 U.S.
725, 734 (1993)(noting that, unlike harm ess error analysis, in
whi ch the governnent bears the burden of showi ng no prejudice to
the defendant’s rights, plain error analysis places this burden
on the defendant); United States v. Weeler, 322 F. 3d 823, 828
(5th Gr. 2003)(“Unlike the harmless error analysis, it is the
def endant rather than the Governnent who bears the burden of
persuasion with respect to prejudice.”)(citing dano, 507 U S at
734); United States v. Tello, 9 F. 3d 1119, 1131 (5th G
1993) (stating that, as the party seeking to preserve the
def endant’ s sentence under harmnl ess error analysis, the
governnent bears the burden of persuading the court that the
district court would have inposed an identical sentence absent an
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The governnent does not argue in this case that the district
court’s enploynent of the Sentencing CGuidelines as mandatory did
not affect defendants’ substantial rights; rather, the governnent
agrees that we nust vacate defendants’ sentences and remand for re-
sentencing. W glean no indication fromthe record on appeal that
the mandatory nature of the Guidelines and the facts found by the
court rather than by the jury did not affect the length of
def endants’ sentences.® W therefore vacate their sentences and
remand for re-sentencing.

I11. CONCLUSI ON

Al t hough the defendants’ i ndi ct nent was technically
duplicitous, they waived this argunent by not raising it before
trial, and they have not suffered substantial prejudice to their
rights as a result of the flawed indictnent. Defendants have not
shown that the district court erred or, if it did, that the error
affected their substantial rights with respect to any of their
other <challenges to their conviction. W therefore affirm
def endants’ convi cti ons.

Not so for their sentences. As defendants preserved their

objections to the district court’s calculation of |oss under the

erroneous application of the guidelines).

67 See United States v. Rogers, 126 F.3d 655, 661 (5th Gr.
1997) (“The m sapplication of a guideline is harmess error if the
district court would have inposed the sane sentence even in the
absence of the error. . . The question is not whether the
district court could have chosen the sane sentence, but whet her
it would have chosen that sentence.”)(enphasis in original).

34



sentencing guidelines, and the district court’s use of facts that
were neither admtted by the defendants nor found by the jury in
determ ni ng defendants’ sentences under the nmandatory sentencing
guidelines violated defendants’ Sixth Anmendnent rights, their
substantial rights were affected as a matter of law. W therefore
vacat e defendants’ sentences and remand this case to the district
court for re-sentencing.

CONVI CTI ONS AFFI RMED; SENTENCES VACATED AND CASE REMANDED FOR RE-

SENTENCI NG
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